SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANTHONY OPPENHEIMER,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

SC2020-512

L.T. Case No. 1D18-2083

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

/s/ M. Stephen Turner

M. STEPHEN TURNER

Florida Bar No. 095691

M. Stephen Turner, P.A.

215 S. Monroe Street, Suite 400
(32301)

P.O. Drawer 10261

Tallahassee, FL 32302

P: 850-545-1061

Stephen.turner@nelsonullins.com

JENNIFER A. WINEGARDNER

Florida Bar No. 133930

WINEGARDNER LAW FIRM, PLLC

2852 Remington Green Circle
Suite 102

Tallahassee, FL 32308

P: 850-270-9064

jwinegarnder@winegardnerlaw.com

rgross@winegarnderlaw.com

RECEIVED, 04/16/2020 02:21:30 PM, Clerk, Supreme Court

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Jurisdiction is proper under Article V, section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution, which states that the Supreme Court may review any decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of this Supreme Court on the same question of law. The First District's decision below conflicts with *State v. Williams*, 791 So. 2d 1088 (Fla. 2001), and *Williams v. State*, 102 So. 3d 25 (Fla. 5th DCA 2012), that require dismissal of a misdemeanor charge alleging new elements and new victims brought by amended information after the speedy trial time period expires; and also conflicts with *Martin v. State*, 259 So. 3d 733, 736 (Fla. 2018), holding that an act is punishable as criminal hazing only when it falls within the ambit of the statutory definition of criminal hazing as found in section 1006.63(1), i.e., the limit or scope of that definition. The decision below adopts the companion case opinion and thus includes facts necessary for this Court to discern conflict. See *Miles v. Weingrad*, 164 So. 3d 1208, 1216 (Fla. 2015).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Anthony Petagine and Petitioner Anthony Oppenheimer were officers of a fraternity that authorized a party upon strict instruction that fraternity pledges would not be forced to drink alcohol. (Tab 2, App p. 9). Tragically, a pledge drank excessive amounts of alcohol and died. (Tab 5, App p. 10). Petagine and

Oppenheimer were charged with one count of felony hazing and later by amended information, one count of misdemeanor hazing. Section 1006.63(1), Florida Statutes (2017), defines criminal hazing as “any action or situation that recklessly or intentionally endangers the mental or physical health or safety of a student” that “includes, but is not limited to, pressuring or coercing the student...forced consumption of any food, liquor, drug, or other substance...”

The State alleged only that Mr. Oppenheimer *created an opportunity* for underage drinking and *may have encouraged overconsumption*. The State did not allege that he forced, coerced, or pressured consumption of liquor. The trial court held the charge “omitted critical elements” of the hazing statute and dismissed the felony. (Tab 2, App p. 14). However, the trial court did not dismiss the later added misdemeanor charge alleging creation of a substantial risk of harm to numerous other pledges. (Tab 2, App p. 10; Tab 5, App p. 57, n. 3). Both sides appealed.

A majority of the First District’s panel (Judge B.L. Thomas joined by Judge Osterhaus), reversed dismissal of the felony, holding the State sufficiently alleged the elements of felony hazing under the first part of the definition of criminal hazing in section 1006.63(1), without regard for the whole definition. (Tab 2, App p. 11). In the analysis, the majority decision relied only on the general introductory sentence of section 1006.63(1) that defines hazing as: “any action or situation that recklessly or intentionally endangers the mental or physical health or safety of a

student...”, but disregarded the remaining part of the statutory definition that put general hazing behavior in essential context. (Tab 2, App pps. 11, 15). As pointed out by Judge Bilbrey in his dissenting opinion, this ignored the basic principle requiring that a statute be construed and applied in its entirety:¹

The majority relies solely on the definition of criminal hazing in the first sentence of section 1006.63(1) in holding that [Defendant] created an "action or situation" that endangered Mr. Coffey for the felony charge or endangered any of the pledges for the misdemeanor charge...I believe all of section 1006.63(1) must be read together. To constitute criminal hazing the act that recklessly or intentionally endangers the student must be along the lines of what is specifically prohibited in the second sentence, otherwise the statute could be unconstitutionally vague. To avoid void for vagueness, the rule of lenity applies to the “run-of-the-mill ambiguity” contained in the hazing statute. *Martin v. State*, 259 So. 3d 733, 741-42 (Fla. 2018).

(Tab 2, App pps. 16-17). The panel majority’s decision thus conflicts with the specific directive of *Martin v. State*, 259 So. 3d 733, 736 (Fla. 2019), that “[t]he definition of hazing is, of course, critically important to determining the scope of criminal liability under the statute. An act is not punishable as a crime under the statute unless it falls within the ambit of that definition.”

The panel majority decision also held that the State’s added misdemeanor charge could proceed to trial even though it was filed beyond the ninety-day

¹ “[A]ll parts of a statute must be read together” and “courts must give full effect to all statutory provisions and construe related statutory provisions in harmony with one another.” (Tab 2, App p. 16) (citing *Forsythe v. Longboat Key Beach Erosion Control Dist.*, 604 So. 2d 452, 455 (Fla. 1992) (prohibiting courts from applying portions of a statute in a vacuum without giving full effect and meaning to the whole of the statute)).

speedy-trial deadline, stating Mr. Oppenheimer was not prejudiced. (Tab 2, App p. 13). The misdemeanor was a new charge for creating substantial risk of harm to new victims. (Tab 3, App p. 26). Allowing an amended information that brings new charges after the speedy-trial deadline directly conflicts with this Court's decision in *State v. Williams*, 791 So. 2d 1088 (Fla. 2001), and the Fifth District's decision in *Williams v. State*, 102 So. 3d 25 (Fla. 5th DCA 2012), requiring dismissal of a misdemeanor charge filed more than ninety days after a defendant's arrest.

Petitioner moved to certify as issues of great public importance and for rehearing, which the panel majority denied. (Tab 3, App p. 26). Judge Bilbrey again dissented and would have certified two questions of great public importance: the first, regarding statutory interpretation of criminal hazing as expressed in the *Martin* case, and the second, whether allowing an amended information to new criminal charges violated speedy trial requirements.

The District Court denied rehearing *en banc*, not because the majority of the Court thought the panel's decision was correct, but because of resistance to *en banc* review itself. Judge Tanenbaum explained: "we as a full court cannot override a panel decision simply because a majority of us disagree with it." (Tab 5, App p. 36). Judge Makar wrote a lengthy dissent (joined by Judges B.K. Thomas and Bilbrey) noting in particular (Tab 5, App p. 56):

[T]he Legislature has made the central purpose of the ... hazing statute clear: criminalizing a narrow category of intentional/reckless acts that directly caused serious harm arising from pressured or coerced violations of law or forced consumption of substances, here alcohol. Indirect acts, such as encouragement or the creation of celebratory or social occasions where heightened risks may be present, fall short of the statute's mark.

A significant difference exists between encouraging or creating an opportunity for overconsumption of alcohol by students and directly coercing, pressuring, or forcing a student to consume substances that seriously affected his/her physical health/safety. The former is not a part of the 2017 criminal hazing statute; the latter is. This elevated level of seriousness is reflected in the statute's plain language...

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. *State v. Williams*, 791 So. 2d 1088 (Fla. 2001), and *Williams v. State*, 102 So. 3d 25 (Fla. 5th DCA 2012), require the dismissal of an information amendment that is filed after the speedy trial period and that charges a new misdemeanor based on the same criminal episode. Refusal to dismiss is contrary to the holdings in these cases because the amendment was filed beyond the speedy trial time and alleged a new charge of creating substantial risk of harm to new victims. (Tab 2, App p. 13).

II. *Martin v. State*, 259 So. 3d 733, 736 (Fla. 2018), specifically requires courts to consider the entire definition section of section 1006.63(1), not just the broad general introduction, when determining if hazing activity is within its ambit of the statute's narrow scope for criminal liability.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DECISION BELOW DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH *STATE V. WILLIAMS*, 791 So. 2d 1088 (Fla. 2001), AND *WILLIAMS V. STATE*, 102 So. 3d 25 (Fla. 5th DCA 2012), THAT REQUIRE DISMISSAL OF A NEWLY ADDED MISDEMEANOR CHARGE FILED AFTER THE SPEEDY TRIAL DEADLINE.

The State amended its felony information after the speedy trial deadline lapsed, adding a new misdemeanor charge arising from the same event or circumstances as the original crime charged but alleged new victims harmed differently. (Tab 3, App p. 26). The panel majority’s decision refused to discharge the amended criminal charge, although Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.191(a) requires every person charged with a misdemeanor be brought to trial within 90 days of arrest or the charge must be dismissed.

Decisions of this Court and the Fifth District require dismissal of a charge alleging a new crime arising out of the same event filed by amended information after the speedy trial deadline. *State v. Williams*, 791 So. 2d 1088, 1091 (Fla. 2001) (“The State may not file charges based on the same conduct after the speedy trial period has expired.”); *Williams v. State*, 102 So. 3d 25 (Fla. 5th DCA 2012) (discharging amended information alleging new misdemeanor charged because it was filed after the speedy trial deadline and added new charges). *See also, State v. Conroy*, 118 So. 3d 305 (Fla. 3d DCA 2013) (affirming trial court’s dismissal of new charges filed after speedy-trial deadline); *Whitehall v. State*, 81 So. 3d 599

(Fla. 2d DCA 1995) (amended information constituted a new charge filed after the speedy trial period had expired).

The panel majority decision stated that “defendant could not establish any specific prejudice...,” citing *Holland v. State*, 210 So. 3d 238, 240 (Fla. 1st DCA 2017) (holding that minor amendment to an information that merely corrects or clarifies a charge need not be dismissed). (Tab 2, App p. 13). The panel majority decision viewed the addition of a new misdemeanor charge that added supposed new victims as if it clarified some detail of the existing felony charge without prejudice to the defendant. But in *Holland*, the State did not *add* a *new* charge; it *reduced* the existing charge to a lesser included offense by correcting the illegal substance involved. Prejudice has nothing to do with entitlement to speedy trial when new charges arising out of the same incident are charged too late. See *Whitehall*, 81 So. 3d at 603-604 (“[L]ack of prejudice does not have any bearing on whether an information can be amended to include a new charge after the speedy trial has expired”); *State v. D.A.*, 939 So. 2d 149, 151 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006) (affirming dismissal of a new charge when the speedy trial period lapsed even though the defendant’s ability to address the merits of the State’s case was not prejudiced in any way).

This Court should review the panel majority’s decision to ensure uniformity of speedy trial rights for criminal defendants across the state.

II. THE DECISION BELOW CONFLICTS WITH *MARTIN V. STATE*, 259 So. 3d 733 (Fla. 2018), HOLDING THAT AN ACT IS NOT PUNISHABLE AS CRIMINAL HAZING UNLESS IT FALLS WITHIN THE AMBIT OF THE STATUTORY DEFINITION OF CRIMINAL HAZING IN SECTION 1006.63(1), FLORIDA STATUTES (2017)

In *State v. Martin* 259 So. 3d at 736 (Fla. 2018), Justice Canaday, writing for the unanimous court, held “[t]he definition of hazing” to be “critically important to determining the scope of criminal liability under the statute....An act is not punishable as a crime under the statute unless it falls within the ambit of that definition.”

Section 1006.63(1), Florida Statutes (2017) defines *criminal hazing* as:

“any action or situation that recklessly or intentionally endangers the mental or physical health or safety of a student” ... “Hazing” includes, but is not limited to, pressuring or coercing the student into violating state or federal law...forced consumption of any food, liquor, drug, or other substance, or other forced physical activity that could adversely affect the physical health or safety of the student and also includes any activity that would subject the student to extreme mental stress, such as sleep deprivation, forced exclusion from social contact, forced conduct that could result in extreme embarrassment, or other forced activity that could adversely affect the mental health or dignity of the student.

As Judge Makar explained in his dissent in the District Court’s opinion denying rehearing *en banc*, the central purpose of the hazing statute is “criminalizing a narrow category of intentional/reckless acts that directly caused serious harm arising from pressured or coerced violations of law or forced consumption of substances...” (Tab 5, App p. 56).

The panel majority’s decision only considered the alleged conduct under the introductory sentence of the section generally explaining hazing as “any action or situation that recklessly or intentionally endangers the mental or physical health or safety of a student....” (Tab 2, App p. 11). The full definition of section 1006.63(1) was plainly not considered. By limiting its inquiry as to the scope of criminal hazing to just the first general sentence of the statutory definition, the panel majority disregarded the *Martin* holding that the statutory definition of hazing (meaning the entire definition) “is, of course, critically important to determining the scope of criminal liability under the statute,” and an act must fall within the ambit of that definition to be punishable.

Contrary to *Martin*, the panel majority held the alleged action was punishable as criminal hazing even though it was not within the ambit, i.e., limit or scope, of the statute’s definition of hazing because there was no pressured, coerced, or forced act as required by the statutory definition. Both Judge Bilbrey in his dissent and Judge Makar in his dissent upon denial of rehearing *en banc* explained that to constitute criminal hazing, the act must be along the lines of what is specifically prohibited in the second part of the definition. (Tab 2, App pps. 16-17; Tab 5, App pps. 57-58). Under *Martin*, actions related to the consumption of alcohol would only become criminal hazing under the statute when accompanied by pressured, coerced, or forced consumption.

The State did not allege that anyone pressured, coerced, or forced any student. (Tab 2, App p. 18). As the trial court correctly found, consistent with *Martin*, these are necessary elements of criminal hazing. (Tab 2, App p. 19). The State admittedly had no evidence that Petitioner did anything to *pressure* or *coerce* or *force* any students, and alleged only that Petitioner *encouraged* the consumption of alcohol...” (Tab 2, App p. 19). Encouragement to drink alcohol at a celebratory occasion falls short of what is necessary for criminal hazing under the statutory definition. (Tab 5, App p. 56).

The District Court’s expansive interpretation of the statute would mean any fraternity member could be charged with criminal hazing if underage drinking occurred at a fraternity party. The effect of this holding conflicts with *Martin* which pronounced the critical importance that an alleged hazing act fall within the ambit of the definitional statute, not just the first sentence. (Tab 2, App p. 21).

The panel majority decision should be reviewed to correct the inconsistency with *Martin* and prevent abusive charges of criminal hazing as *Martin* intended.

CONCLUSION

The District Court’s decision is inconsistent with established principles of law and cases of this Court and other District Courts. Petitioner requests this Court accept discretionary review jurisdiction.