STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 
 

This criminal prosecution arose when a Florida State University fraternity 

pledge died from severe alcohol intoxication after a party. See State v. Petagine, 290 

So. 3d 991, 994–95 (Fla. 1st DCA 2020). The Petitioner, fraternity brother Anthony 

Oppenheimer, along with several others, were charged with misdemeanor and felony 

hazing counts for their roles in the death. The decision on review is a one-line 

opinion citing the First District’s full written opinion in Petagine. See State v. 

Oppenheimer, 290 So. 3d 991 (Fla. 1st DCA 2020). 

In Petagine, the district court held that the State did not violate fraternity 

president Anthony Petagine’s speedy trial rights when, outside the 90-day window 

for trying misdemeanor counts, it amended the information to clarify that Petagine 

faced both felony and misdemeanor hazing charges under Section 1006.63(2)–(3). 

Petagine, 290 So. 3d at 996–97. It explained that Petagine “could not establish any 

specific prejudice” from the amended information because the information “merely 

clarifie[d] some detail of the existing charge.” Id. at 996.  

The First District also reversed the trial court’s order dismissing the felony 

hazing count. Applying the statutory definition of hazing—“any action or situation 

that recklessly or intentionally endangers the mental or physical health or safety of 

a student for purposes including, but not limited to, initiation or admission into or 

affiliation with any organization operating under the sanction of a postsecondary 
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institution,” id. at 995 (quoting § 1006.63(1), Fla. Stat.)—the court asked whether 

the State alleged sufficient evidence to charge Petagine under a principal theory. Id. 

at 995–96. It held that the charging document “was legally sufficient to charge a 

count of felony hazing” because Petagine was aware of the dangers of binge 

drinking, knew of the fraternity’s dangerous drinking habits, “encouraged the event 

to take place,” and “lifted the liquor ban” for the party. Id. at 996. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 
 

I.  The First District’s decision in this case does not conflict with any of the 

cases cited by Petitioner. As to the misdemeanor speedy trial issue, Petitioner cites 

State v. Williams, in which the prosecution waited until after the speedy trial 

deadline had elapsed before filing any charges. Here, however, the State properly 

filed felony charges within the speedy trial period and simply amended the charging 

document later to clarify that the case also involved a misdemeanor.  

Petitioner also relies on a Fifth District decision, Williams v. State, where the 

State added a misdemeanor after the speedy trial deadline. That case is 

distinguishable for two reasons. First, the decision below turned on the First 

District’s conclusion that Petitioner was not prejudiced by the later addition of the 

misdemeanor charge, whereas the Fifth District’s Williams decision did not purport 

to address prejudice. Second, unlike in Williams, the original charging document in 

Petitioner’s case cited the misdemeanor subsection of the hazing statute, thereby 



3 

putting Petitioner on notice that he faced a misdemeanor count.  

II.  As to the correct interpretation of the hazing statute, no conflict exists with 

this Court’s decision in Martin. That case interpreted the term “competition” as used 

in an exemption in the hazing statute and concluded that the word was not 

unconstitutionally vague. The decision below, on the other hand, interpreted a 

distinct provision of the hazing statute and found that the State sufficiently alleged 

the charge. Accordingly, the Court should deny review. 

ARGUMENT 
 
I. THE DECISION BELOW DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH ANY OTHER 

CASE ON THE MISDEMEANOR SPEEDY TRIAL ISSUE. 

Petitioner incorrectly argues that this Court has jurisdiction under Article V, 

Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution, which provides that the Court “[m]ay 

review any decision of a district court of appeal that . . . expressly and directly 

conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court 

on the same question of law.” 

For this type of discretionary jurisdiction to exist, the conflict “must be 

express and direct” and “must appear within the four corners of the majority 

decision.” Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986); accord Dept. of Health 

and Rehabilitative Services v. Nat’l Adoption Counseling Service, Inc., 498 So. 2d 

888, 889 (Fla. 1986) (rejecting “inherent” or “implied” conflict). In Ansin v. 

Thurston, 101 So. 2d 808, 810 (Fla. 1958), the Court explained that “[i]t was never 
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intended that the district courts of appeal should be intermediate courts.” Instead, 

Article V’s current jurisdictional requirements were “prompted by the great volume 

of cases reaching the Supreme Court and the consequent delay in the administration 

of justice.” Id. This Court therefore may “exercis[e] appellate power in certain 

specified areas essential to the settlement of issues of public importance and the 

preservation of uniformity of principle and practice, with review by the district 

courts in most instances being final and absolute.” Id. 

Petitioner first argues that the decision below conflicts with State v. Williams, 

791 So. 2d 1088 (Fla. 2001), and Williams v. State, 102 So. 3d 25 (Fla. 5th DCA 

2012), neither of which presents a conflict on the misdemeanor issue.  

In State v. Williams, the State did not file an information until 206 days after 

the defendant’s arrest—outside the 175-day felony speedy trial period. 791 So. 2d at 

1089. On discretionary review, this Court considered “whether Florida Rule of 

Criminal Procedure 3.191 should be construed to allow the State to effectively toll 

the running of the speedy trial period by allowing it to expire prior to filing of formal 

charges.” Id.  That is, the Court addressed whether the speedy trial period runs from 

the date of the arrest or the date of the charging document. It held that the speedy 

trial period commences “when an accused is taken into custody and continues to run 

even if the State does not act until after the expiration of that speedy trial period.” 

Id. at 1091. Once the speedy trial period elapses, the Court wrote, “[t]he State may 
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not file charges based on the same conduct.” Id.  

State v. Williams thus addresses the circumstance where no charges at all are 

filed within the speedy trial period. It says nothing about where, as here, the State 

properly files a felony charge within the speedy trial window and amends the 

information to include a misdemeanor count once the time for filing misdemeanor 

charges has elapsed. Indeed, Williams did not even involve a misdemeanor. 

The Fifth District’s decision in Williams v. State, 102 So. 3d 25, is also not in 

conflict. The State there initially charged the defendant with aggravated assault with 

a firearm. When it filed a second amended information—131 days after arrest—the 

State added the charge of improper exhibition of a firearm, a first-degree 

misdemeanor. Id. at 26. In response, the defendant argued that his speedy trial rights 

were violated as to the improper exhibition of a firearm charge because it was added 

more than 90 days after his arrest, the time for trying a misdemeanor. Id. The Fifth 

District reversed and ordered that the conviction for improper exhibition be vacated. 

Id.  It explained: 

When a misdemeanor is consolidated with a felony for disposition in 
the circuit court, the misdemeanor is governed by the speedy trial 
period applicable to felonies. However, when the State charges a 
defendant with a misdemeanor after the expiration of the ninety-day 
speedy trial period applicable to misdemeanors, the misdemeanor 
charge cannot be revived by consolidating it with a felony charge.  
 

Id.  (citing Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.191(f)).  
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Crucially, however, the Fifth District did not purport to address the question 

at issue here: Whether the absence of prejudice from a later-added misdemeanor 

count defeats any claim to a dismissal. Nothing in the four corners of Williams v. 

State suggests (1) that the State argued a lack of prejudice, (2) that the Fifth District 

resolved that claim, or (3) that prejudice might even theoretically have been absent. 

That inquiry was simply not performed by the Fifth District’s opinion. In contrast, 

that inquiry was central to the decision below, where the First District held that 

Petitioner “could not establish any specific prejudice” from the amended 

information. Petagine, 290 So. 3d at 996.1  

Moreover, the facts of the two cases are distinguishable. In the decision below, 

the First District evaluated the prejudice question by asking whether the amendment 

“merely clarifie[d] some detail of the existing charge.” Id. Finding that to be the 

case, the court concluded that the amendment “could not reasonably have caused the 

defendant any prejudice.” Id. That was so, it appears, because the original 

information cited the misdemeanor hazing subsection, Section 1006.63(3), thereby 

notifying Petitioner that he faced a misdemeanor. See id. at 995.  

 
1 In a related context, this Court recently dismissed a case as improvidently 

granted where the decision on review was affirmed because the district court found 
the error harmless, and where “all of the purported conflict cases are silent as to 
whether the harmless error test was considered, and none expressly state that a per 
se reversal rule is being applied.” D.M. v. M.D., 272 So. 3d 1229, 1230 (Fla. 2019) 
(Lawson, J., concurring specially).  
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The same was not true in Williams v. State, where the earlier charging 

document failed to cite any misdemeanor offense. See 102 So. 3d at 26 & n.1. The 

original charged offense was aggravated assault with a firearm, a felony, and the 

amended information added a distinct misdemeanor: improper exhibition of a 

firearm. Id. Thus, the facts forming the basis for the First District’s prejudice 

holding—an earlier citation to the misdemeanor statute—were not present in 

Williams v. State.   

Though not alleging an independent express and direct conflict, Petitioner also 

cites Whitehall v. State, 81 So. 3d 599 (Fla. 2d DCA 2012), and State v. D.A., 939 

So. 2d 149 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006), for the proposition that “[p]rejudice has nothing to 

do with the entitlement to speedy trial when new charges arising out of the same 

incident are charged too late.” (JB-7) (emphasis added). Again, however, the 

decision below involves “clarif[ication]” of the “existing charge.” Petagine, 290 So. 

3d at 996 (emphasis added), not addition of a “new” one.  

In Whitehall, the Second District reversed the defendant’s conviction for 

fleeing to elude with high speed or wanton disregard of persons or property, a 

second-degree felony, and ordered that the trial court enter judgment for the 

originally charged offense of fleeing to elude, a third-degree felony. 81 So. 3d at 

601, 604. The defendant was originally charged by information with fleeing to elude, 

and the State amended the information to charge the greater offense after the speedy 
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trial deadline. Id. The district court stated that “[a]lthough the state may amend an 

information after the speedy trial time expires,” it may not do so “in such a way that 

results in the levying of new charges.” Id. at 604 (emphasis in original). 

D.A. is similar. There, the Fifth District affirmed the trial court’s order of 

dismissal of a delinquency petition charging the defendant with lewd or lascivious 

molestation. D.A., 939 So. 2d at 153. The State amended the petition during the 

recapture period to correct its citation to Section 800.04(5)(c)(2), an offense 

applicable to defendants 18 years of age or older, so that the petition correctly 

charged D.A. under Section 800.04(5)(d), which applied to defendants under the age 

of 18. Id. at 150. That change, the district court reasoned, added a “new offense.” Id. 

at 153. Because that “new offense” was added outside the speedy trial window, the 

trial court properly dismissed it. Id.  

Unlike in those cases, the State’s amendment in Petitioner’s case “merely 

clarifie[d] . . . the existing charge,” Petagine, 290 So. 3d at 996 (emphasis added), 

effectively adding nothing new. As a result, no conflict exists. 

II. THE DECISION BELOW DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH MARTIN ON 
THE PROPER INTERPRETATION OF THE HAZING STATUTE. 

Finally, Petitioner argues that this case conflicts with Martin v. State, 259 So. 

3d 733 (Fla. 2018), on the proper interpretation of the hazing statute. But Martin and 

the decision below addressed entirely different issues.  
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The defendant in Martin raised two claims. First, he asserted that the hazing 

statute was overbroad in violation of the First Amendment because it criminalized 

conduct even where the victim had consented. Id. at 739. By forbidding “voluntary 

acts,” the defendant contended, the statute “chill[ed] commonplace and customary 

conduct.” Id. This Court rejected that claim because both the felony and 

misdemeanor hazing offenses require “physical harm” or “risk of physical harm” to 

the victim, giving the statute a “plainly legitimate sweep.” Id. at 740 (citing 

§ 1006.63(2) & (3), Fla. Stat.). “Any impact on speech or expressive conduct,” the 

Court reasoned, “is insubstantial and purely incidental to the purpose of preventing 

physical harm.” Id.  

Second, the defendant alleged that a provision of the statute permitting acts of 

“competition,” as distinct from hazing, rendered the statute “void-for-vagueness” 

because the term “competition” “lacks precision.” Id. But after interpreting that term, 

the Court held that the defendant should have understood that his conduct did not 

fall within the competition exemption because the act of hazing in his case was not 

akin to an athletic or other competition and instead involved a barbaric ritual in 

which new band members at the university were forced to endure a “brutal beating,” 

similar to “running the gauntlet.” Id. at 742. 

Martin did not interpret the provision of the hazing statute at issue here, which 

defines hazing as “any action or situation that recklessly or intentionally endangers 
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the mental or physical health or safety of a student for purposes including, but not 

limited to, initiation or admission into or affiliation with any organization operating 

under the sanction of a postsecondary institution.” Petagine, 290 So. 3d at 995 

(quoting § 1006.63(1), Fla. Stat.). The First District, rather than consider an 

overbreadth challenge, a void-for-vagueness challenge, or the proper interpretation 

of the word “competition,” conducted a straightforward application of that hazing 

definition. Id. at 995–96. That is all the statute and Martin require. See JB-9 (quoting 

Martin for proposition that consideration of statutory text is “critically important to 

determining the scope of criminal liability”). Petagine found that the charging 

document properly alleged hazing under the principal theory because Petitioner 

knew the risks of holding the party, “encouraged the event to take place,” and 

facilitated underaged drinking by “lift[ing] the liquor ban.” 290 So. 3d at 996.2  

CONCLUSION 
 

The Court should decline jurisdiction.  

 
2 Should the Court conclude that Petitioner has established conflict on the 

speedy trial issue, and if it is otherwise inclined to grant review, it should grant 
review limited to that first issue. Though upon accepting review the Court would 
possess jurisdiction to resolve all issues in the case, nothing requires it do so. Indeed, 
the Court has in the past “elected . . . to only address the conflict issue.” Shine v. 
State, 273 So. 3d 935, 935 n.1 (Fla. 2019). The State believes that neither issue is 
sufficiently important to warrant review; but the merits of the felony hazing issue 
certainly do not warrant the expenditure of this Court’s finite resources because that 
question is inherently fact-bound, requires no nuanced legal analysis, and only a 
handful of decisions have cited Section 1006.63, let alone construed it.